Prevalence and clinical characteristics of depression, and effects of screening interventions for depression among people with diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries: A Systematic Review Protocol.

Review Team:

NAME	QUALIFICATION	INSTITUTION	ROLE	
OBUKU, Ekwaro A.	MBChB, MSc	Africa Centre for Systematic Reviews and Knowledge Translation, College of Health Sciences, Makerere University, UGANDA	Co-PI, Lead Reviewer	
AKENA, Dickens	MB ChB, MMED, PhD	Makerere University, UGANDA	PI, Reviewer, Content Expert, Data abstraction	
REJANI, Lalitha	MB ChB, MMED	Makerere University, UGANDA	Co-PI, Reviewer, Content Expert, Data abstraction	
KADAMA, Philippa	MB ChB, MPH	Makerere University, UGANDA	Co-PI, Reviewer, Methodologist	
SENONO, Richard	BLISS	Makerere University, UGANDA	Search Strategist, Information Specialist	
MWESIGA, Emmanuel	MBChB	Makerere University, UGANDA	Reviewer, Data abstraction	
OKELLO, James	MB ChB, MMED	Gulu University, UGANDA	, UGANDA Reviewer, Content Expert, Data abstraction	

Contact: Dr OBUKU, Ekwaro A., Africa Centre for Systematic Reviews and Knowledge Translation, College of Health Sciences, Makerere University, P.O Box 7072, Kampala, UGANDA

Email: afcen.makchs@gmail.com OR ekwaro@gmail.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
ABBREVIATIONS	3
ABSTRACT	4
BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE:	5
Burden of depression in Low and Middle Income Countries:	5
Burden of Diabetes Mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries:	5
Dual burden of depression and diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries:	6
Rationale: why update a systematic review on depression among persons with diabetes mellitus in LMICs?	
AIMS:	8
SYSTEMATIC REVIEW METHODS:	8
Protocol development and registration:	8
Review questions:	8
Search strategy and preliminary results:	9
Study selection and eligibility:	. 10
Data abstraction:	. 10
Risk of Bias Assessment:	. 10
Assessment of overall quality of evidence:	.11
Data Synthesis:	.11
REPORTING AND DISCUSSION OF RESULTS:	.11
POTENTIAL LIMITATIONS OF REVIEW METHODS:	.11
CITED REFERENCES:	.13
ANNEXES:	. 15

ABBREVIATIONS

AMSTAR - A Measurement Tool to Assess Systematic Reviews

CES-D - Centre for Epidemiological Studies for Depression

DALY - Disability Adjusted Life Years

DM - Diabetes Mellitus

EPOC - Effectiveness of Practice and Organization of Care Cochrane group

GRADE - Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development & Evaluation

HSCL - Hopkin's Symptom Check List

ICD-10 - International Classification of Diseases & Related Health Problems

LMIC - Low and Middle Income Country

MINI - Mini International Neuropsychiatric Inventory

MADRAS - Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale

MOOSE - Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

PHQ-9 - Patient Health Questionnaire 9

PICOS - Participant/Population, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome, Study Design

PRISMA - Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses

QUADAS - Quality Assessment for Diagnostic Accuracy Studies

RevMan - Review Manager open-access software by the Cochrane Collaboration

SCID - Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV

SSA - Sub-Saharan Africa

WHO - World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Diabetes Mellitus and Depression are diseases of high burden globally, and the low and middle income countries are disproportionately affected. Research evidence suggests the two diseases potentiate each other. In particular, persons with diabetes mellitus are likely to be depressed for various reasons including the chronicity of the disease and its treatment. Previous reviews have documented the burden of Depression in Diabetes Mellitus in high or middle income settings with hardly any focus on sub-Saharan Africa or with methodological shortcomings. It could be that the research has not yet been conducted but certainly, the rising burden of noncommunicable diseases in sub-Saharan Africa is exponential and will likely stretch the already meagre health resources.

Indeed, early screening and diagnosis is the port of entry for future public health prevention and management of chronic diseases like depression and diabetes. Our review aims to assess two aspects of this problem: First, we will summarize the evidence describing the prevalence and clinical characteristics of depression among people with diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries. Secondly, we will assess the evidence about the effects of screening interventions for depression among people with diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries. In conducting this review we will employ standard methods as recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration, the GRADE framework of assessing quality of evidence and publish our report using the PRISMA guidelines.

Findings from this review will be employed in guiding decision making in health and advocating for the allocation of the necessary resources for mental health care integration in DM clinics.

BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE:

Burden of depression in Low and Middle Income Countries:

Depression is a mood disorder characterized by changes in ones feelings (e.g. sadness, hopelessness, guilt, irritability); physical status (e.g. body aches, loss of energy, digestive problems); thought process (e.g. poor concentration, memory loss, difficulty with decision making) and behavior (e.g. eating disorders, suicide). Persons with depression will commonly lose interest in life activities, including economic production, [1, 2].

In the Global Burden of Diseases study, Major Depressive Disorder increased by 37% over a 20 year period, and shifted ranks from 15th in 1990 to 11th by 2010 in causing Disability Adjusted Life Years [3]. Field studies have reported the prevalence of depression in the general population of Low and Middle Income Countries to be as high as 10% [4], and the HIV epidemic in sub-Sahara Africa (SSA) has increased this burden of depression [5-7]. Research evidence suggests that depression is associated with chronic disease conditions and decrements in health states[8]. It is reasonable to argue that, with the epidemic of non-communicable diseases in Low and Middle Income Countries (LMICs) [9], depression is likely to increase exponentially.

Depression is treatable and the port of entry in LMICs is routine screening in Primary Health Care settings [10]. Screening (and diagnosis) for depression is feasible and optimizes standardized and adopted symptom-based instruments including: the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ), Centre for Epidemiological Studies for Depression (CES-D), Mini International Neuropsychiatric Inventory (MINI), Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRAS) and the Hopkin's Symptom Check List (HSCL) [10, 11].

Burden of Diabetes Mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries:

Diabetes is a group of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action or both. Insulin is a hormone that helps glucose get into body cells to give them energy. Without insulin, high blood glucose can lead to serious problems with the heart, eyes, kidneys, nerves, and gums and teeth [1, 12].

Diabetes mellitus is a global health concern due to its increasing prevalence; worldwide, 347 million people are affected [13]. In Sub Saharan Africa, the prevalence varies from 0.6% in rural Uganda [14] to 12% in urban Kenya [15]. More than 80% of diabetes deaths occur in low and middle income countries (LMIC) [13]. In Uganda, 2 million people suffer from the disease, an increase of 27% in the period of 2004-2009 [16]. A population survey done recently in rural eastern Uganda shows a prevalence of 7.4% (95%CI 6.1-8.8) and 8.6% (95%CI 7.3-10.2) using WHO criteria for diabetes and pre-diabetes respectively [17]. The incidence of diabetes is increasing in Uganda, and many LMIC due to the unhealthy diets, physical inactivity and aging with a high overall public health cost [18, 19].

Diabetes is a treatable disease. The current criteria for diagnosis of diabetes includes a hemoglobin A1C \geq 6.5% or fasting plasma glucose (FPG) \geq 126 mg/dl (7

mmol/L) or two-hour plasma glucose ≥ 200 mg/dl (11.1 mmol/L) during an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) or in a patient with classic symptoms of hyperglycemia or hyperglycemic crisis, a random plasma glucose ≥ 200 mg/dL (11.1 mmol/L). Symptoms of hyperglycemia include polyuria, polydipsia, weight loss, occasional polyphagia and blurred vision [12].

Dual burden of depression and diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries:

Literature on causation suggests a bi-directional relationship between depression and DM, with recent advances implicating hyperactivity of the hypothalamus-Pituitary axis, neurotopins and inflammatory mediators in the development of DM. Similarly, studies have documented that the dysregulation of immunological function, sympathomedullary activation in depressed individuals can be a risk factor in the development of depression [20, 21]. In addition, chronic diseases like DM have been associated with depression [22].

The prevalence of co-morbid depression and diabetes mellitus (DM) among clinic attendees is on the rise the world over; both disease entities are associated with unfavorable outcomes including poor adherence to medications, early death, and a poor quality of life [5, 23-25]. The presence of co-morbid depression in DM patients has also been associated with poor glycemic control [26]. One can infer that adverse effects 'traditionally' associated with depression such as suicide, loss of productivity, increased health care expenditure are likely to be severe in persons with DM.

Existing literature about the burden of co-morbid depression and DM has often yielded varying results, with prevalence figures in the range of 11% - 31%. The variations in prevalence figures could be attributed to demographic, biological and socioeconomic heterogeneity as well as differences in instruments used to assess for depression in diabetic patients.

A number of countries in LMIC, and especially SSA, continue to grapple with huge patient numbers and severe medical staff shortages at their health facilities [27]. Mental health services are almost non-existent, or poorly integrated in primary health care facilities within LMIC. While some research has examined the integration of mental health in HIV-clinics within SSA [28], little is being done to routinely identify and manage mental illnesses in the setting of non-communicable diseases such as DM.

The diversity in existing literature about the prevalence of and risk factors for depression in DM patients, and the lack of clarity about existing depression screening in primary health care within LMIC call for the synthesis of existing evidence.

Rationale: why update a systematic review on depression among persons with diabetes mellitus in LMICs?

First, there is rising burden of non-communicable diseases in LMICs with the potential of stretching the already scarce resources available for infectious diseases. Co-morbid depression and diabetes mellitus presents unprecedented clinical, public health and socioeconomic challenges, as already stated in our section examining the disease burden.

Although we found a number of reviews addressing different aspects about this same subject [20, 23-26, 29-41], these hardly focused on LMICs and in particular sub-Sahara Africa. One recent systematic review by Roy and colleagues [42] had methodological limitations with a low average AMSTAR score of 2.5 out of 11, when assessed by 2 reviewers with an agreement kappa of 0.74 [43]. Key methodological gaps included non-reporting of use of *a priori* protocol; English language limitations with the potential of excluding studies from say Francophone LMICs; not assessing methodological quality of included studies; non-mention of supplementary search for studies beyond electronic means (gray literature) all of which may contribute to the various biases. Not least, in the same review the literature search was as far back as August 2011, presenting an opportunity to update it for over 30 months.

Although reviews may not conform to the PRISMA [44] reporting guidelines, this does not necessarily imply methodological inferiority. However, in light of advancements in systematic review methodology including reporting in the recent past, coupled with more available open access journal space, and the opportunity for supplementary information to be uploaded on the world-wide-web; it is reasonable to categorize what was not reported in the review in the review as having been left out by the reviewers and represent a methodological flaw.

A systematic review of the literature about the extent of depression in DM patients, and the nature of screening interventions to address depression in diabetes clinics can inform theory, practice and policy. Such findings can be used in guiding and advocating for the allocation of the necessary resources for mental health care integration in DM clinics.

AIMS:

<u>Aim 1</u>. To summarize the evidence describing the prevalence and clinical characteristics of depression among people with diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries.

<u>Aim 2</u>. To summarize the evidence about effects of screening interventions for depression among people with diabetes mellitus in Low and Middle Income Countries.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEW METHODS:

Protocol development and registration:

This systematic review protocol will be registered in the open access online registry, PROSPERO, University of York, York, United Kingdom, http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/ [45]. Briefly, we will use standard systematic methods that limit bias, by duplicate searching, identifying and selecting studies, as well as abstracting data, [46]. We will refer to the following recommendations: the MOOSE statement (Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) [47], to assess the first question about prevalence of depression in diabetes mellitus; the Cochrane Handbook with specific attention to diagnostic strategy studies, for the question of depression screening effects [48]. Finally, we will report our results in line with the PRISMA guidelines (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses).

Review questions:

The first question of burden of depression in persons with diabetes mellitus, in LMICs will provide an appropriate context for assessing the effects of screening interventions. The second part will assess the effects of interventions to screen for depression among diabetics. In the second part, the following elements will be assessed;

<u>Population</u>: Persons suffering from depression or DM or both disease conditions. <u>Intervention</u>: Screening or diagnosis strategy for depression among DM patients; screening or diagnosis strategy for DM among depressed patients.

<u>Comparator</u>: No routine screening or diagnosis for depression in DM patients, or vice versa in depression patients.

<u>Outcome</u>: Diagnosis of depression; diagnosis of DM

<u>Study design</u>: (a) Randomized Controlled Trials (b) Quasi Experimental designs: controlled before and after studies; and interrupted time series design (c) Observational studies: cross-sectional and cohort designs.

<u>Setting</u>: Primary Health Care service delivery in Low and Middle Income Countries as defined by the World Bank criteria. Priority will be given to Low Income Countries and sub-Saharan Africa.

Search strategy and preliminary results:

Our comprehensive search strategy consists of, (a) electronic search, (b) search for gray literature (conference proceedings, clinical trial registers), (c) contacting experts in the field of depression or DM (physicians, diabetologists, psychiatrists, psychologists, counsellors, public mental health specialists et cetera), and (d) using the reference bibliography of index full text articles to identify potentially relevant studies. The electronic search strategy will follow the PICOS approach (Population, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome and Study design), and conducted in at least two major data bases including PubMed/Medline, EMBASE and Psych-info. We will use Google Scholar to identify relevant citations. The electronic search terms will include various combinations of Medical Subject Headings (MESH) and plain language words to capture the elements of PICOS described in the review question section. Thus far we have developed the electronic search strategy and preliminary results are shown below, (Table 1).

Table 1: Yield of literature on depression in diabetes mellitus and diabetes mellitus in depression in LMICs.

Search number	Search terms	Number of hits*
(Data base)		(Relevant)
#1 (PubMed)	(((("depressive disorder"[MeSH Terms] OR "depression"[MeSH Terms] OR depression[Text Word]) AND ("diabetes mellitus"[MeSH Terms] OR "diabetes insipidus"[MeSH Terms] OR diabetes[Text Word])) AND ("epidemiology"[Subheading] OR "burden of"[All Fields] OR "prevalence"[MeSH Terms] OR prevalence[Text Word])) AND "screening"[All Fields] OR "interventions"[All Fields]) AND "developing countries"[All Fields]	4062

^{*}Number of articles as at 17.01.2014

Limitations of the search terms: The search will be initially limited to the most recent 10 years, and subsequently incrementally by 5 year bands retrospectively with accrual of studies. We will not employ language limitations. This will permit assessment of the more recent and relevant evidence whilst catering for feasibility to deliver a quality review paper.

Study selection and eligibility:

Two or more independent reviewers will screen the titles and assess the articles for eligibility. Full text articles will be further assessed for inclusion in parallel, and agreement will be estimated by Cohen's Kappa. Consensus and a third reviewer will be applied to arbitrate in the event of disagreement.

Inclusion criteria: The types of studies (designs) to be included have been described in the review question section, but will generally follow the criteria described by the Effectiveness of Practice and Organization of Care Cochrane group (EPOC). Studies that have assessed for the prevalence of depression by means of a gold standard instrument (MINI, ICD-10, SCID), through a routinely used screening scale (PHQ-9, CES-D, MADRAS, HSCL), or through an interview by a trained mental health worker. Studies that have documented the routine depression screening in DM patients. All studies in which a gold standard instrument (ICD-10, MINI, SCID) or a detailed psychiatric interview by a trained mental health worker was used to diagnose depression. All studies where there exists a routine depression screening protocol. Similarly for DM, we will include studies which used the standard of screening and diagnosis of the setting.

<u>Exclusion criteria</u>: Studies in which a rating scale was used to diagnose depression. And studies

Data abstraction:

Data will be abstracted into a spread sheet, in duplicate and independently by any two reviewers including DA and EO.

<u>Exposure variables</u>: This spreadsheet will be piloted and adjusted to suit capture of the required including: study administrative information, setting, patient population demographic characteristics, screening strategy (intervention), reference standard/diagnostic criteria used to confirm a depressive disorder.

Outcome measures: These will include: (a) Outcomes for disease burden measured as the absolute number, or proportion (prevalence) or rate (incidence) of depression among diabetics; (b) Clinical characteristics of patients with depression and diabetes mellitus; (c) The effects of depression screening strategies among diabetics (e.g. yield of depression among diabetics, time-to-diagnosis, treatment of depression, prevalence of complications of DM, and economic measures like quality of life). These effects will be defined as the yield of the screening intervention which may be reported as: absolute number or proportion of depressed patients among diabetics; absolute or relative binary measures of effects including odds ratios, relative risk, and absolute risk difference. In the event of survival analysis data, Hazard Ratios will be used. We will standardize these measures by re-computing the relative risk and absolute risk. Relative risk are more consistent across studies but absolute risk measures provide better interpretation[49]. Missing data will be designated as not reported (NR).

Risk of Bias Assessment:

The methodological quality of the individual studies will be independently assessed for each of the outcomes, by DA, PK, LR and EO using the REVMAN 5.2 software. The following methodological items will be considered: For the question on burden of disease, (a) sampling strategy; (b) measurement errors, or misclassification;

c) measure of uncertainty. In part two on effects, where applicable sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding. Additional criteria of sample size, losses to follow up, and borrowing features specific to screening and diagnosis studies elaborated in QUADAS-1 (Quality Assessment in Diagnostic Accuracy Studies) will be employed [50, 51]. Any ambiguity will be resolved by consensus and RO will be the arbiter.

Assessment of overall quality of evidence:

We will employ the GRADE criteria to assess for confidence in the evidence for a particular outcome (Grading, Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation) [52, 53]. This will include developing summary of findings tables for each outcome. Noteworthy, although GRADE criteria for observational studies and screening or diagnostic studies are still under development, we will assume a perspective of diagnostic strategy. In this regard we will still apply expert opinion to downgrade or upgrade the quality of evidence.

Data Synthesis:

This will follow methods proposed in the PRISMA [54], Cochrane [48] and MOOSE [47] publications. Included studies will be reported using descriptive statistics. *Narrative synthesis*: Structured synthesis of data will be done and precede any meta-analyses. This will employ majorly descriptive statistics and if appropriate Forest plots. A funnel plot, Begg's and Egger's test will be employed to explore publication bias. *Meta-analysis*: Prevalence data will be transformed using appropriate statistical methods to facilitate meta-analysis. Data on effects of screening will be standardized. Biological, methodological and statistical heterogeneity will be assessed using the Cochran's Q and the I-squared statistics. In the absence of statistically significant heterogeneity, we will use RevMan v.5.2 [55]and Stata v.11.2, to pool and analyze the data using the random effects model or network meta-analysis in the event of multiple interventions, multiple outcomes or making decision assumptions for missing data. In order to explore the robustness of the results of the primary outcome, sensitivity analyses will be conducted. Potential factors to be explored in this sensitivity analyses are: study quality and patient related heterogeneity.

REPORTING AND DISCUSSION OF RESULTS:

Findings from this review will be reported according to the PRISMA statement [44], and PRISMA extension for equity considerations [54]. The discussion section will draw on findings from the synthesis. Policy relevant aspects of applicability, relevance, equity, costs and monitoring and evaluation will be addressed here. We will hold bi-monthly synthesis meetings on a rolling basis as data accumulates.

POTENTIAL LIMITATIONS OF REVIEW METHODS:

This review may be limited by:

<u>Language and time bias</u>: We propose to include French literature, which we will screen using Google Scholar. We will then contact The Centre for the Development of Best Practices in Health (CDBPH), University of Yaoundé 1, Yaoundé, Cameroon; for analysis of full text articles written in French. In terms of time bias, we will include all

studies since 1990 as recommended by the Cochrane EPOC group. However, in the event of very few studies, we will search earlier years in blocks of five years. Evidence types: It is possible to identify poorly designed observational designs which provide lower quality evidence of effects, for quantitative outcomes. Rather than exclude weaker study designs which are largely observational, we will employ the Risk of Bias criteria for different study designs, elaborated in the protocol and recommended by the Cochrane EPOC group in assessing the quality of included primary studies and employing these quality features in sensitivity analyses; followed by the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) framework in assessing the overall quality of evidence for specific quantitative outcomes. Here, we will develop summary of findings tables, and assess the confidence in the effect estimates, and strength of recommendations basing on the quality of evidence. Indeed, with low quality or absence of evidence, we will identify areas for further research. Synthesis & reporting: (a) Due to the different study designs, interventions and varying contexts, synthesis will be a challenge. We will employ multi-stage structured synthesis. followed by meta-analysis where feasible.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:

- 1. Dr. Ekwaro Obuku coordinates of the Africa Centre for Systematic Reviews and Knowledge Translation at Makerere University College of Health Sciences, Kampala, UGANDA. This Centre has received funding from the International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Canada to build capacity for systematic review conduct in East Africa.
- 2. Dr. Dickens Akena is a Psychiatrist at the School of Medicine, Makerere University College of Health Sciences, Kampala, Uganda. He was awarded a staff priming grant by the Medical Education Partnership Initiative- Medical Education for Equitable Services for All Ugandans (MEPI-MESAU) partnership to study the interaction between depression and diabetes mellitus.

CITED REFERENCES:

- 1. WHO. *International Classification of Diseases (ICD)*. 2014 [cited 2014 24.01]; Available from: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/.
- 2. Akena, D.H., S. Musisi, and E. Kinyanda, *A comparison of the clinical features of depression in HIV-positive and HIV-negative patients in Uganda*. Afr J Psychiatry (Johannesbg), 2010. **13**(1): p. 43-51.
- 3. Murray, C.J.L., et al., *Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010.* The Lancet, 2012. **380**(9859): p. 2197-2223.
- 4. Hailemariam, S., et al., *The prevalence of depression and associated factors in Ethiopia: findings from the National Health Survey.* Int J Ment Health Syst, 2012. **6**(1): p. 23.
- 5. Nakimuli-Mpungu, E., et al., *Depression, alcohol use and adherence to antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review.* AIDS Behav, 2012. **16**(8): p. 2101-18.
- 6. Sherr, L., et al., *HIV and depression--a systematic review of interventions.* Psychol Health Med, 2011. **16**(5): p. 493-527.
- 7. Kinyanda, E., et al., *Prevalence and risk factors of major depressive disorder in HIV/AIDS as seen in semi-urban Entebbe district, Uganda*. BMC Psychiatry, 2011. **11**: p. 205.
- 8. Moussavi, S., et al., *Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the World Health Surveys.* Lancet, 2007. **370**(9590): p. 851-8.
- 9. Dalal, S., et al., *Non-communicable diseases in sub-Saharan Africa: what we know now.* Int J Epidemiol, 2011. **40**(4): p. 885-901.
- 10. Patel, V., et al., *Packages of care for depression in low- and middle-income countries.* PLoS Med, 2009. **6**(10): p. e1000159.
- 11. Mulrow, C.D., et al., *Case-finding instruments for depression in primary care settings*. Ann Intern Med, 1995. **122**(12): p. 913-21.
- 12. American Diabetes Association, *Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus*. Diabetes Care, 2014. **37 Suppl 1**: p. S81-90.
- 13. WHO. *Ten facts about diabetes. World Health Organization*. 2013 27.02.2014]; Available from: http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/diabetes/facts/en/index7.html and http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/diabetes/facts/en/index7.html
- 14. Maher, D., et al., *Distribution of hyperglycaemia and related cardiovascular disease risk factors in low-income countries: a cross-sectional population-based survey in rural Uganda.* Int J Epidemiol, 2011. **40**(1): p. 160-71.
- 15. Christensen, D.L., et al., *Prevalence of glucose intolerance and associated risk factors in rural and urban populations of different ethnic groups in Kenya.* Diabetes research and clinical practice, 2009. **84**(3): p. 303-10.
- 16. Ministry of Health Uganda, A Rapid Assessment of Morbidity and Mortality due to Non-Communicable Diseases in Uganda. , 2011, Ministry of Health Uganda: Kampala.
- 17. Mayega, R.W., et al., *Diabetes and pre-diabetes among persons aged 35 to 60 years in eastern Uganda: prevalence and associated factors.* PloS one, 2013. **8**(8): p. e72554.
- 18. Monteiro, C.A., et al., *Obesity and inequities in health in the developing world.* Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord, 2004. **28**(9): p. 1181-6.
- 19. Lasky, D., et al., *Obesity and gender differences in the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Uganda*. Nutrition, 2002. **18**(5): p. 417-21.
- 20. Renn, B.N., L. Feliciano, and D.L. Segal, *The bidirectional relationship of depression and diabetes:* a systematic review. Clin Psychol Rev, 2011. **31**(8): p. 1239-46.

- 21. Rustad, J.K., D.L. Musselman, and C.B. Nemeroff, *The relationship of depression and diabetes:* pathophysiological and treatment implications. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2011. **36**(9): p. 1276-86.
- 22. Kok, G.D., et al., *Double trouble: does co-morbid chronic somatic illness increase risk for recurrence in depression? A systematic review.* PloS one, 2013. **8**(3): p. e57510.
- 23. Wagner, G., et al., [Type 2 diabetes mellitus and depressive symptoms: what is the cause of what? A systematic literature review]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr, 2012. **137**(11): p. 523-8.
- 24. Ali, S., et al., *The association between depression and health-related quality of life in people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review.* Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2010. **26**(2): p. 75-89.
- 25. Lloyd, C.E., et al., *Epidemiology of depression in diabetes: international and cross-cultural issues.*J Affect Disord, 2012. **142 Suppl**: p. S22-9.
- Wang, M.Y., et al., A systematic review of the efficacy of non-pharmacological treatments for depression on glycaemic control in type 2 diabetics. J Clin Nurs, 2008. **17**(19): p. 2524-30.
- 27. Patel, V., D.S. Goel, and R. Desai, *Scaling up services for mental and neurological disorders in low-resource settings.* International health, 2009. **1**(1): p. 37-44.
- 28. Patel, V., et al., Lay health worker led intervention for depressive and anxiety disorders in India: impact on clinical and disability outcomes over 12 months. The British journal of psychiatry: the journal of mental science, 2011. **199**(6): p. 459-66.
- 29. Travers, K.U., et al., *Major depressive disorder in Africa and the Middle East: a systematic literature review.* Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res, 2013. **13**(5): p. 613-30.
- 30. Smith, K.J., et al., Association of diabetes with anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychosom Res, 2013. **74**(2): p. 89-99.
- Park, M., W.J. Katon, and F.M. Wolf, *Depression and risk of mortality in individuals with diabetes:* a meta-analysis and systematic review. Gen Hosp Psychiatry, 2013. **35**(3): p. 217-25.
- 32. Johnson, B., et al., *Prevalence of depression among young people with Type 1 diabetes: a systematic review.* Diabet Med, 2013. **30**(2): p. 199-208.
- 33. Jeeva, F., et al., *Is treatment of depression cost-effective in people with diabetes? A systematic review of the economic evidence.* Int J Technol Assess Health Care, 2013. **29**(4): p. 384-91.
- 34. Roy, T., et al., Screening tools used for measuring depression among people with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabet Med, 2012. **29**(2): p. 164-75.
- 35. Nouwen, A., et al., *Prevalence of depression in individuals with impaired glucose metabolism or undiagnosed diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the European Depression in Diabetes (EDID) Research Consortium.* Diabetes Care, 2011. **34**(3): p. 752-62.
- 36. Nouwen, A., et al., *Type 2 diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for the onset of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Diabetologia, 2010. **53**(12): p. 2480-6.
- 37. Schram, M.T., C.A. Baan, and F. Pouwer, *Depression and quality of life in patients with diabetes:* a systematic review from the European depression in diabetes (EDID) research consortium. Curr Diabetes Rev, 2009. **5**(2): p. 112-9.
- 38. Mezuk, B., et al., *Depression and type 2 diabetes over the lifespan: a meta-analysis.* Diabetes Care, 2008. **31**(12): p. 2383-90.
- 39. Gonzalez, J.S., et al., *Depression and diabetes treatment nonadherence: a meta-analysis.* Diabetes Care, 2008. **31**(12): p. 2398-403.
- 40. Barnard, K.D., T.C. Skinner, and R. Peveler, *The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with Type 1 diabetes: systematic literature review.* Diabet Med, 2006. **23**(4): p. 445-8.
- 41. Ali, S., et al., *The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Diabet Med, 2006. **23**(11): p. 1165-73.

- 42. Roy, T. and C.E. Lloyd, *Epidemiology of depression and diabetes: a systematic review.* J Affect Disord, 2012. **142 Suppl**: p. S8-21.
- 43. Shea, B.J., et al., AMSTAR is a reliable and valid measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. J Clin Epidemiol, 2009. **62**(10): p. 1013-20.
- 44. Moher, D., et al., *Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement.* Int J Surg, 2010. **8**(5): p. 336-41.
- 45. Booth, A., et al., *PROSPERO at one year: an evaluation of its utility.* Systematic reviews, 2013. **2**: p. 4.
- 46. Gough, D., S. Oliver, and J. Thoma, *An Introduction to Systematic Reviews*2012, London: SAGE Publications.
- 47. Stroup, D.F., et al., *Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group.* JAMA, 2000. **283**(15): p. 2008-12.
- 48. Higgins, J.P.T. and S. Green, *Cochrane Handbook, Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011].*, The Cochrane Collaboration, Editor 2011.
- 49. Liberati, A., et al., *The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration.* Journal of clinical epidemiology, 2009. **62**(10): p. e1-34.
- 50. Whiting, P., et al., *The development of QUADAS: a tool for the quality assessment of studies of diagnostic accuracy included in systematic reviews.* BMC medical research methodology, 2003. **3**: p. 25.
- 51. Whiting, P.F., et al., *Evaluation of QUADAS, a tool for the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies.* BMC medical research methodology, 2006. **6**: p. 9.
- 52. Kunz, R., B. Burnand, and H.J. Schunemann, [The GRADE System. An international approach to standardize the graduation of evidence and recommendations in guidelines]. Der Internist, 2008. **49**(6): p. 673-80.
- 53. Schunemann, H.J., et al., *Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations for diagnostic tests and strategies.* BMJ, 2008. **336**(7653): p. 1106-10.
- 54. Welch, V., et al., [PRISMA-Equity 2012 Extension: reporting guidelines for systematic reviews with a focus on health equity]. Rev Panam Salud Publica, 2013. **34**(1): p. 60-7.
- 55. Review Manager (RevMan) [Computer program]. Version 5.2. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The CochraneCollaboration, 2012. http://www.cochrane.org/editorial-and-publishing-policy-resource/review-manager-revman.

ANNEXES:

Annex 1: Electronic search strategy Annex 2: Draft data abstraction form